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            INTRODUCTION

         

         This is the story of a long, varied and, I hope, interesting life. It is the story of a reporter’s life – a reporter who turned himself into a writer and broadcaster, skills that overlap and intertwine.

         It is the story, inevitably, about aspects of our world which are of particular interest to me. Journalism, broadcasting, sport, politics, travel and people. And it is the people that make the whole thing worthwhile. Without people, as Nelson Mandela must have contemplated on occasion during his 27-year incarceration, what is there?

         I have been uncommonly lucky in knowing both private and public people and, if this story concentrates more on the latter, it is because many of them have shaped our world, using their exceptional gifts to add colour and mood, excitement and controversy, all embellished with the headlines that my profession enjoys so much.

         I am not one of those people who scorn the idea of having heroes. Most of us need someone to inspire and guide us; to quicken the heartbeat and bring us joy.

         In journalism, no one inspired me more than James Cameron, not the film maker but a sardonic Scot whose view of life was forever tainted by having witnessed, from a dubiously safe distance, the atomic bomb tests over the island of Bikini in Micronesia. Cameron wrote of it at the time: ‘This enterprise was a pantomime of such hilarious tragedy, compounded of every factor from the banal to the appalling, that it remains in my mind as a kind of slapstick nightmare.’

         As we shall see, from his description of a visit to the Gabon to meet Dr Albert Schweitzer, Cameron possessed a talent that enabled him to write from the heart and leave his readers in no doubt as to where he stood. Needless to say, I admire that.

         It unleashes a whole discussion about the divisions between reporting and commentating – in Britain the two are allowed to merge far more than they are in the United States – and Cameron did not shy away from it.

         Writing in 1967, Cameron, in the last chapter of his captivating autobiography, Point of Departure, said this: ‘Today, we journalists spend our time splashing in the shallows, reaching on occasions the rare heights of the applauded mediocre. It looks, perhaps, easier than it is.

         ‘To the individual in this machine (of journalism) it brings its own dilemma: the agonising narrow line between sincerity and technique, between the imperative and the glib – so fine and delicate a boundary that one frequently misses it altogether, especially with a tight deadline, a ringing phone, a thirst and an unquiet mind.’

         Not many in my profession would disagree with that.

         As I write, a man who likes only journalists who write nice things about him has gained entrance to White House. It is too early to know where that will lead but I fervently hope it will ensure journalists are made ever more aware of the very serious duty to tell the truth.

         On a more personal level, I owe my whole career to Reg Hayter, who took an extraordinary punt on a seventeen-year-old when he had just set up his freelance agency in Fleet Street with Ron Roberts and Freddie Garside and offered me a job. Whatever skills I have as a reporter were learned while grappling with the assignments Reg gave me. There are many others who can say the same thing. Hayter’s became the best school an aspiring sports writer could ever attend.

         Even before I started wearing long trousers, I became captivated by a genius in white flannels, a cricketer called Denis Compton, a batsman of such carefree abandon that he left thousands of runs unscored, giving his wicket away because he may have picked up the wrong bat in the dressing room (he often mislaid his own) or was wondering if his nag had won the 3.30 at Epsom.

         Before his cartilage blew up, Denis played on the left wing for Arsenal with his brother Les. Like thousands of others, my day was made or ruined by a Compton century or a Compton duck. It is the same, even now, depending on whether Arsenal win or lose. Those who captivate you in childhood have you forever.

         In politics Winston Churchill was my hero. I grew up in England during World War Two. Do I need to explain? Much later, when I came to cover politics for the London Evening News and BBC Radio in America, I found Robert F Kennedy to be the most special of people; a haunted, evolving human being who became a unique politician. It is almost unbearable to think how much better a place the entire world would have been had he become President instead of Richard Nixon.

         There have many other people I have admired from near or far and I will remain indebted to those who have offered their friendship. Many will appear in this story. Inevitably some will not and to them I apologise. Omissions are purely the result of how narratives unfold, as anyone who has tried to write a book will understand.

         It has been a life carried out on the hoof; in hotels and airports and 747s, leading to an ever-changing vista of what this amazing world has to offer. I have had homes in Paris, London, Stockholm, New York, Mijas, El Castillo de Castellar and now, under the blazing Florida sun, in Delray Beach. I should have spent more time in each but then, what would I have missed? Curiosity and the need to earn another dollar always drove me on and there is little that I regret.

         Somehow in the middle of it all – or, to be precise, at the beginning and towards the end – I managed to persuade two remarkable women to marry me. Glenys has remained a lifelong friend and I think Lynn will, too. And, of course, I cannot find adequate words to thank Lynn for producing Ashley, a son to cherish.

         I also want to thank those friends who not only put up with my stories, but encouraged me to write them down. That is what I have tried to do here. During the process, Chris Bowers, a great friend and partner of mine at the Tennis Radio Network, volunteered to read the manuscript and offer suggestions. As a biographer himself, Chris has a shrewd eye for detail and nuance and I have taken heed of many of his observations. My thanks, too, to Gayle Hunnicutt, Heather Mitchell and Robert Sackville West who were kind enough to read early chapters and offer the kind of encouragement one needs on those darker days when one thinks ‘What the hell am I doing?’

         They seemed to enjoy what they read. I hope you do, too.

      

   


   
      
         

            Chapter 1

            PARIS: THE BEGINNING

         

         Parisian air was the first air I breathed; her trees the first trees I saw. The chestnuts, a shiny mahogany as they split from their green casings, fell at the foot of my pram as my mother wheeled me down the quayside by the Seine, which flowed less than a hundred yards from the room where I was born.

         I left before I could talk, returned before I could write and went off to be educated elsewhere. But, of course, you never leave Paris. Hemingway uttered many truisms but, for me, none more accurate than his remark to a friend in 1950: “If you are lucky enough to have lived in Paris as a young man, then wherever you go for the rest of your life, it stays with you, for Paris is a moveable feast.”

         Feasts were difficult to put on the table in France in December 1945. Since the day of my birth on 10th February 1939, the Second World War had dimmed the lights, swept the gaiety from the boulevards and turned the world’s most glamorous city into a place of fear and suspicion as it struggled under the Nazi jackboot.

         So allow me to re-trace some steps to the beginning. I had been born at home in my father’s dressing room, on the 3rd floor of a typical Parisian apartment at 6, Rue Francoise 1er. The flat ran the length of the building and from the balcony you could see the Seine and the glittering Pont Alexandre 111. The Champs Elysees was a few steps away but to get to his office in the Avenue de l’Opera every morning my father had Rene, the chauffeur, to whisk him across the Place de la Concorde in our splendid Renault tourer. Lassere, still one of the city’s finest restaurants, was just around the corner. My silver spoon was waiting for me in our dining room.

         Inevitably, I have often wondered how I would have grown up had the Maginot Line held and the war been kept at a distance. Spoilt brat would have been the obvious outcome. We would certainly have continued to live in considerable luxury, presuming the Paris office of Price Waterhouse had continued to function.

         My father, C.H. (Harry) Evans was a founding partner of the European firm, in 1921, I think it was. For a lad born in the previous century in Beverly and educated in Whitby, he had risen fast in his chosen occupation of accountancy and, by an extraordinary quirk of fate, had avoided the worst horrors of the First World War. This came about because he was given the singular task of saving the margarine in Holland. No, really. In 1914, Britain imported most of its margarine from Holland but some of the ingredients were made in Germany. The British government decreed that the margarine could still be imported as long as no part of it was manufactured in Germany. So some Minister or other selected Price Waterhouse as the firm that would be responsible for overseeing this operation, which was of considerable importance because butter would be scarce to non-existent once war time rations took hold.

         By chance, my father had already been to Holland on one of his first foreign trips for the firm and had picked up a little Dutch. “So give the job to the young man from Yorkshire,” someone must have said at the PW headquarters in London. “Tell him to make sure the margarine is pure Dutch.”

         There was just one problem. The young Yorkshireman had just been called up to join the London Rifles in the City. My father had barely got his boots on before a phone call from Whitehall had him back in mufti and on a cross-channel steamer to Rotterdam. And there he stayed for the duration. He never told me much about his exploits, not even how he made scores of dangerous cross-channel journeys, once ending up in a lifeboat just outside Tilbury after the ship had been torpedoed.

         But he obviously got the job done because Britain had a regular flow of margarine throughout the war. Soon after the hostilities ended, my Dad got himself transferred to the newly opened Paris office and was offered a partnership in the European firm.

         Around that time, he married an American, had two children, Patricia and Tony, who would become my half-sister and half-brother, and lived in the Villa Montmorency, a complex of town houses near the Porte d’Auteuil. Stade Roland Garros, which I would be visiting so often in later years, was in the process of being built little more than a mile away.

         The marriage didn’t last and by 1935, Daddy had met my mother, a blonde-haired beauty who was also a divorcee. They were married the following year, lived briefly in Neuilly, and then bought the splendid apartment on the Rue Francois 1er.

         By the time my first birthday came around, war had been declared and things were getting sufficiently uncertain for my mother, a nanny and me to be packed off to a rented house in Niort, a town in northwest France not far from where my mother’s daughter Margot, then twelve, was at school. Apparently, we stayed there for several months while my father continued to work in Paris but, by June 1940, it became obvious that the game was up. “Pack,” said my father when he called. “I’m closing the flat and we’re taking a boat out of Bordeaux.”

         And so we joined the pathetic ragtag army of refugees streaming south as Hitler’s forces burst through the paper-thin Maginot Line, skirted whatever other resistance remained and descended on Paris. Margot, who had been rescued from school by Alma Dax, the wife of our family doctor in Paris, remembers low-flying aircraft and the sound of distant bombing. My father had booked us into the Grand Hotel in Bordeaux but we never made it to our rooms. Right in the middle of lunch, the manager ordered us out. “The Government is arriving!” he announced in a panicky voice. “They are taking over the hotel!”

         They were indeed. Realising Paris was no longer safe, Ministers, their secretaries and their entourages, probably including a mistress or two, were arriving in droves. In an instant, we found ourselves sitting on our luggage in the big square outside. And it was stinking hot.

         So there we were, the well-heeled family of a Price Waterhouse partner, with a future that could best be described as uncertain. According to rumours – and there were plenty of those – the Germans were nine miles away.

         With no time to lose, my father checked on the ship reservations he had made and discovered that our boat was not only going to be one of the last to leave but was, in all its glory, a coal boat that had been sunk in the Spanish civil war, dredged up and put back into the service. Normally it had a crew of 30. Now it was going to be filled with 300 refugees.

         My father decided the best thing to do was to get my mother and me down to the boat. After a quick look at what was on offer, it was clear that water was going to be in short supply, especially as it was turning out to be one of the hottest French summers on record. So Daddy drove back to the square to pick up Margot; pay off the nanny who was, of course, in tears; and go off in search of Evian.

         Meanwhile, back at the ship, the captain was calling my mother up onto the bridge. Evidently, I was left screaming in a sailor’s arms at the foot of the steel ladder as Mummy, who was never good with stairs at the best of times, struggled to the top.

         “I am afraid I have some bad news,” the captain said. “I have orders to sail immediately.”

         “But you can’t do that!” replied my horrified Mum. “You said two hours and my husband has all our passports and our money!”

         Taking pity on her, the captain offered his cabin as I was the only infant on board. But that was scant consolation to a woman faced with the prospect of arriving in England with nothing except what she stood up in and a babe in arms. Not to mention the thought of a husband and daughter left to face certain incarceration in a prison camp. She never discovered what happened next and never knew whether it was an act of God or a captain disobeying orders. But the story was that the anchor got stuck.

         Half an hour later, the Renault hove into view and, with passengers yelling encouragement from the ship, Daddy and Margot grabbed the cushions from the back seat and ferried the water bottles up the gangway. With what must have been a very regretful backward glance at the beautiful Renault – soon to be driven, no doubt, by the chauffeur of some Nazi General – we set sail.

         It would probably have been quicker if we had, indeed, had sails. The old boat chugged along, somehow avoided some bombs that were dropped in our vicinity at the mouth of the Gironde, and took no less than four days and three nights to get to Falmouth. Other ships had sailed with us but they soon steamed off into the distance, leaving us as the very last refugee ship to make it out of Bordeaux. From the description in his autobiography, Anyone Here Been Raped and Speaks English?, Ed Behr, the celebrated Newsweek correspondent, might well have been on our boat. If so he, too, would have arrived in Falmouth covered in soot because no one had cleaned out the hold and soon coal dust was flying everywhere, impregnating every pore and making everyone, including my very blonde mother, look as if they had just arrived from Africa.

         I think a little place called Pra Sands was our first stop and it seems to have provided me with my first memory. My mother and I were walking down a Cornish lane when I saw a black horse. Then somehow it disappeared and I remember saying, “Mummy, mummy where did the horse go?” I never found out.

         After a while in the West Country, we gravitated towards London and found a spacious house in Knapp Hill near Woking. My father, too old now to be called up, was given a job at the Ministry of Supply which was under the direction of Lord Beaverbrook, who, on orders from the new Prime Minister, Winston Churchill, was busy getting Spitfires built. Sometimes Daddy would commute back to Woking but, more often during the week, he would stay in town, taking turns to do look out duty on the roofs of Westminster, tin hat firmly on his head.

         My mother used to go up to London as well and help serve tea to the troops on Waterloo station. Once, she took Margot and stayed the night at a hotel. The Blitz had started but that didn’t seem to deter anyone very much. “There was an amazing spirit of defiance,” I remember her telling me. “One night some friends and I had a few too many cocktails and ended up on the balcony of the hotel as the searchlights lit up the sky and the bombardment started, as it did every night, and we just laughed at Hitler. We didn’t seem to care. If he’d seen us it would have confirmed his opinion that the English were crazy. It was what got us through the whole thing. Have another pink gin and to hell with it.”

         Or have a ‘nice cuppa tea’. It was the great phrase of the war years. “The ’ouse next door just got hit, love.”

         “Yes dear, just have a nice cuppa tea.”

         But, of course, the humour couldn’t cover up the carnage as the German bombs rained down night after night, not just on London, but Liverpool, Plymouth, Coventry where the trucks and tanks were being built as well as other industrial centres. Swathes of England were laid to waste and the nation clung to the radio to hear Churchill’s bulldog tones.

         “We shall never surrender.”

         It is impossible to overestimate the effect that man had on a nation’s morale. The jutted jaw, the cigar, the Homburg hat – clichés now, but very real as the bombs fell and the news went from bad to worse.

         It wasn’t getting any better in Surrey. We had moved to a new house near Guildford which happened to be the marker for the Luftwaffe as the bombers turned to head into London. The town bristled with ack-ack guns and if the German pilots thought it was all a bit too much, they just dumped their bombs right there and went home. For fourteen consecutive nights, I remember being lifted into my mother’s arms from a dead sleep and taken down to sit it out under the stairs. A tree was uprooted by a direct hit in the garden next door but, physically, we survived. Not so my mother’s nerves. Calm during the bombardment, she tended to collapse with fatigue and anxiety the next day and, finally, she decided we had had enough.

         Margot’s boarding school had been moved, lock, stock and barrel from an exposed position at Cooden Beach, near Eastbourne on the south coast, to the depths of Shropshire. We found a little barn of a house not too far away in a tiny village called Leintwardine where there was a pub called the Red Lion, a butcher, and not much else. The butcher, a Mr Griffiths, was our defence against the Germans. He had a shotgun. He was the Home Guard. All 5’ 10” of him. The war? Yes, everyone knew about the war but it hadn’t really penetrated deepest Shropshire and so we settled down to a calmer life and I made my first real friend, the butcher’s son. He was called Eric and we used to chase cows in the fields behind our cottage and do all the naughty things five-year-olds will do when left to run free.

         For my mother, with a husband hundreds of miles away in bomb-stricken London, no help and no idea how to gut a trout, it must have seemed a very long way from the Rue Francois 1er. But, unlike so many, we were safe and we survived.

         The next move, as a staging post to return to Paris, took us to Bournemouth and the Dover House Hotel on Dover Road. If the film of Terence Rattigan’s play Separate Tables, which had starred Burt Lancaster and Deborah Kerr, was not filmed there it could have been. It typified Bournemouth down to the last pine needle in the garden.

         I remember Margot taking me down to the town square to join in the throngs rejoicing in VE Day, which signaled the end of the war in Europe, but, shortly before, I had received a brief visit from the only grandparent I ever met – my father’s mother. I am afraid my only memory is of a slightly formidable old lady dressed in a long black coat with a squat black hat covering wisps of grey hair. Sad.

         My father had already left for France, virtually tailgating the French and American forces into Paris. He arrived back only a week or two after General de Gaulle had marched up the Champs Elysee at the head of his troops, defying the last remaining German snipers to shoot at him. If they tried, they missed of course, as did everyone who tried to kill this immense figure. As my father turned the key in the lock of the Price Waterhouse office on the Avenue de l’Opera he could hardly have imagined that it would fall to his son to be the first voice heard on the BBC announcing the death of de Gaulle nearly 30 years later. Le Grand Charles had outwitted all his enemies, dying of a heart attack in his own living room.

         When Mummy, Margot and I returned later in 1945, we constituted the first British family to take up residence in the city after the war. For the first few months we lived primarily off Red Cross parcels that had been prepared for the prisoner of war camps and were no longer needed. I can still remember sticking a finger into the glutinous and wonderfully creamy condensed milk. Occasionally my father’s contacts would produce something from the thriving black market – a chicken, a piece of tough meat or, at Christmas, a turkey.

         We were luckier than some foreign residents who found their homes virtually destroyed. Ours had been occupied by three young German officers who, apart from drinking my father’s extensive wine cellar dry and throwing some dregs onto the carpet, had not done any lasting damage. It was pot luck as to who you got as uninvited guests. One friend of ours returned to find a note on the burnished dining room table. It was from the German Admiral who had occupied their apartment, thanking them for their hospitality and apologising for two pieces of broken crockery from the carefully detailed inventory. The note said that he would be happy to return their hospitality should they visit Berlin. So there were some gentlemen fighting on the other side.

         But it was difficult to forgive and forget. I shall always remember the look of disgust on my mother’s face when she dropped a knitting needle down the side of the sofa one afternoon. In pulling it out she came up with a photo of three German officers. The French family living upstairs confirmed it was the trio who had been sleeping in our beds.

         Christmas provided momentary relief from the horrors of the past and, on a purely personal level, an extraordinary piece of luck. As far as we could make out from our fairly wide circle of new friends, I was the only British or American child in the capital. Almost everyone we knew was in the military and it was much too early to think of bringing families over to join them. So … guess who got the presents?

         We must have invited nearly a hundred people for drinks on Christmas Day and, of course, nearly all brought something for the ‘young man’. The prize present was a huge toy fortress, complete with turrets and passageways, soldiers, armoured cars and tanks. The vivid memory of playing on the floor amidst a forest of uniformed legs as the guests moved around me remains to this day. There were the blue legs of the RAF officers; khaki of various shades; the occasional dark Royal Navy blue; and then, of course, the light tan of US Army colonels and captains. They were the ones that impressed me most because of the smart contrast between what the Americans somewhat strangely called their pants and the chocolate coloured tunics.

         In return for all this attention, I had a bizarre job. The lift in our apartment building was one of those open topped contraptions which would not move until the swinging, wrought iron gates had been properly closed. A load of more than three people caused it to slow down alarmingly and by the time it reached the third floor it would often need some assistance. This I was able to provide by leaning over from the staircase and physically pulling it up the last few inches.

         “Hey! Swell, kid! Great job!” I got a lot of praise from crew-cut Americans with ribbons all over their chests.

         And, out on the street, the GIs were no less generous. The young men from Alabama and Ohio used to sit on the balustrades of the Metro stations on the Champs Elysees, their caps in their epaulets, legs swinging free as they watched the young ladies of Paris parade before them. And for a child it was always, “Hey! Have some gum, chum!”

         There was, of course, a lot going on in Paris that a six-year-old didn’t understand. While I was taken for walks and offered the treat of a very watery ice cream at Pam-Pam’s on the Champs Elysees – or occasionally at the Marigold, a café which existed until very recently – some nasty recriminations were taking place as the French turned on collaborators, of whom there were more than anyone wanted to admit. And they were not only little businessmen who had been out for a quick buck or women who had slept with German officers. The great Maurice Chevalier, who was deemed to have performed too willingly for the Nazis, was banished to small theatres off the boulevards and had to work his way back into favour. It took a while.

         More amusingly, Maxim’s, the iconic restaurant situated between the Madelaine and the Place de la Concorde, was heavily penalised for having made a fortune off the gluttony of the Nazi High Command. Not wishing to deprive Parisians of such haute cuisine – heaven forbid – the new Government came up with the perfect penalty. Maxim’s would feed all Allied officers for the next two years at cost. Inspectors would visit regularly to ensure that culinary standards were maintained and that the profit would be zero.

         So slowly Paris regained some vague semblance of its former self and, from what my parents told me after a night ‘up the hill’, as they called it, the Montmartre haunts of Le Lapin Agile or La Cremaillere were soon alive with the sound of the accordion and the haunting songs of Edith Piaf. She was brave to ‘Regret Rien’ because there was so much to regret. Even so, some had managed to live passable lives during the occupation and my Godmother, Joyce Bayol, was one of them.

         Although English, her marriage to a Frenchman had enabled her to remain in Paris for the duration. With their two sons, the couple lived at 102 Avenue des Ternes, which, much later, would fall into the shadow of the monstrous Concorde Lafayette Hotel. Joyce told me some harrowing stories of the occupation. One of Britain’s best secret agents, code named The White Rabbit – an incredibly brave man whose real name was Wing Commander Tommy Yeo Thomas – hid out for several months on the second floor right above their flat. He used to come down and play with the boys, Jerry and Max, who both loved jazz music. But, after twice returning to England following invaluable work with the Resistance, he was betrayed on his third visit in 1944 and arrested at the Passy Metro station. The Gestapo tortured him for four months but he never revealed a thing. Eventually, he was sent to Buchenvald and other camps. After several attempts, he escaped and, after testifying against Nazi Guards in trials held at Dachau in 1947, he returned to his pre-war job as an executive at Molyneux, the Paris fashion house. Joyce thought him to be the bravest man she had ever met and she was not alone.

         Others were less fortunate. Joyce knew a young couple who had been round at their place for dinner and, foolishly, had decided to risk breaking the 9.00 pm curfew. They were arrested while walking home and sat in the local police station waiting for the customary fine. But a German soldier had been shot by the Resistance that night. So, caught in the trap of time and circumstance, they were included in a group of a dozen Parisians who, next morning, were taken out and shot.

         The manner in which the French Police enforced this barbarous justice on behalf of their German masters was a sore that took a very long time to heal.

         After nearly a year of Red Cross rations, my father sent us off on holiday to Switzerland. On the sleeper to Geneva I had my first banana. I had never seen one before. Nor I had skied and that, partly, was the purpose of the trip. We were heading for Villars, a resort above Lake Geneva, and all seemed new and exciting until, as Margot and I got ready for dinner, an earthquake hit. I vividly remember sitting on the bed watching the tallboy sway towards us before settling back against the wall.

         The next day I was dressed up in all the right gear with big boots and children’s skis and taken out into the glistening snow, which looked remarkably unruffled by the earthquake.

         “I don’t want to ski, I don’t feel well,” I moaned and my mother told me not to be silly, thinking it was just a reaction to the night before. But it wasn’t. I had scarlet fever and soon developed a temperature of 104. So it was down the winding mountainous road, in a swaying car smelling of petrol and leather, and six weeks in a sanatorium in Montreux. End of holiday.

         At least Margot had a good time. She and my mother stayed in considerable comfort at the Metropole Hotel where, every three days, a new batch of young American officers arrived on leave. As one of the few young ladies around who could speak English, she was not short of dates and spent most of her days escorting a stream of young men with crew cuts on trips to Lord Byron’s castle, which stood a little further down the lake.

         On returning home to Paris, my father got some surprising news. The Stockholm office was not doing well and the PW partners decided that he should be transferred to Sweden to take care of the problems. So it was that, on Christmas Eve 1946, we found ourselves spending our last nights in Paris at the Hotel Regina, right next to the Louvre. Joan of Arc, now all golden on her horse but less lovely then, sits outside in the little square. We were to take the train to Stockholm on Boxing Day. I still had one eye open as Mummy and Margot tip-toed into our room to leave Santa’s presents and I just got an inkling that maybe Father Christmas wasn’t quite who they said he was.

         The growing up continued as the wagon-lits carried us, for four days and four nights, across the wreckage of Europe. Bombed out buildings flitted by as we picked up speed through Belgium and on into Germany. But the image which remains is that which greeted us at the main station in Hamburg. The platform is raised above street level and we found ourselves looking down on a scene of total devastation, alleviated only by two or three stalls selling fruit and vegetables to huddled figures clad in little more than rags or old pieces of uniform.

         The ferry from Copenhagen carried us across the Oresund Straits to a different world.

         There was – and, indeed, still may be – a sweet shop at the Stureplan in Stockholm. On one of our first walks around the city I stopped and gaped. There were chocolates and Smarties in the window. I had never seen a box of chocolates and nothing as colourful as Smarties. Sweden had worn the war years well, wrapped in its neutrality.

         The Grand Hotel, an establishment that really was grand in every sense, turned into our home for the first three months as my parents searched for a flat. The year of 1947 turned out to be a freezing winter, even by Swedish standards, and although the snow along the Stromgatan just outside the hotel was deep and inviting, it was not long before I caught a bad chill and was confined to barracks. So I had the corridors and nook and crannies of the Grand Hotel to play in and, from what I remember, had a pretty good time.

         We eventually found a lovely apartment at 101 Karlavegan but life turned out to be a little more difficult. The war had damaged my parents’ relationship, not least because of an affair my father had been having with his secretary in London, and it was not long before my mother went back to England.

         So, with the aid of a Scottish governess, I lived in Stockholm with my father and Margot and became a movie addict. Apart from enjoying my toboggan in the local park, I knew nothing of sport and my motivation each day was to find a movie that was marked ‘Barntil’ instead of ‘Barnforboten’.

         The problem was that the censors thought Robin Hood unsuitable for children because Errol Flynn kissed Olivia de Havilland yet considered Great Expectations, with its truly terrifying scene of John Mills as Pip being confronted by Finlay Currie, the convict, in the graveyard, quite all right. I didn’t sleep for a week.

         But Westerns seemed to be OK and I remember insisting that Mummy took me to see Randolph Scott in Western Union for a second time at the Rialto or Rio or Rigoletto – the cinemas in Stockholm all had those sort of names. These and some musicals like Blue Skies with Bing Crosby became my window on the world, opening up new vistas for a child who was trying to grasp just what life had to offer.

      

   


   
      
         

            Chapter 2

            SCHOOL

         

         None of it prepared me for the jolt of reality which confronted me when I was sent to prep school at Cooden Beach in Sussex. The school was called Seafield and was run by two brothers: Granville Coghlan, a former Cambridge rugby blue, and his younger brother Pat. They were a spartan pair who insisted on cold showers in the morning, winter and summer, and a heavy regimen of sport. Pat, who wore dark prescription glasses because he had fallen back onto his head as a child and damaged his eyesight, almost always wore a pair of blue shorts and knee length socks under his black gown as he strode about the school from class to class.

         If I have made them sound somewhat frightening, that would be unfair. It would have been difficult to find a more conscientious, intelligent and caring pair of headmasters than Granville and Pat.

         The teaching staff were a memorable bunch, too. There was genial Major Bennett with his military moustache; Captain Wheeler, gaunt and faintly yellow from the malaria he had caught in the jungles of Malaya; and Mr Kempson with his shock of white hair that stood straight up and a nose that, alarmingly, bent sideways when he blew it. The nose was boneless.

         The problem for me – one of many, actually – was that I was frequently speechless. I had a stammer. Maybe it was the trauma of leaving France or the nights under the stairs in Guildford, but, for whatever reason, I had developed quite a bad speech impediment. Answering questions in class was often agony and I was only too happy when my mother told me that she had found a speech therapist – a Miss Scott – who was willing to come round twice a week and help me.

         My mother said she never charged a penny which was amazing because, God knows, I owe my radio career to her. I remember Miss Scott as quite a young-looking woman despite her grey hair and she had a warm, comforting smile. First of all, she made me lie flat on my back and told me to concentrate on my feet. “Feel your feet on the floor,” she instructed. “Feel them get heavier and heavier. Now your calves …”

         So she went on with her method of total relaxation. When I felt like a lifeless lump she made me read to her, still lying on the floor. I think she came to see me through an entire winter term and a few weeks into the next one. And my stammer disappeared. Thank you, thank you, thank you, Miss Scott.

         By then I was beginning to get over the shock of being thrown into this alien world, but I still pined for the rare weekends when Mummy would come down to take me out for a trip to Eastbourne or tea at the Cooden Beach Hotel. One weekend I got Lord Tennyson, the former England cricket captain and grandson of the poet, to sign my autograph book. It must have been the year before he died just down the coast at Bexhill-on-Sea in 1951.

         Sport was fast becoming part of my life but I had needed a crash course in the subject. When I first arrived, I remember listening to the boys chatting about who was playing centre forward or who should have been chosen for left back. I had absolutely no idea what a left back was. And I was nine.

         My saviour was a boy, as chance would have it, called Nick Evans. No relation, of course. But as he was Evans 1, I became Evans 2 and he sort of took me under his wing. Or, to be more accurate, he taught me everything I needed to know about sport. Nick was a natural at ball games and went quickly into the First Eleven at everything – as he did when he went on to Lancing College. Having started so late I was not First Eleven material, but soon took a liking to cricket and football; somewhat less so to rugby because, being quite tall, I was put in the second row of the scrum. Being shoved up the arse while your nose was in someone else’s was not my idea of fun and it was only much later, when I joined Richmond and played centre or on the wing, that I really enjoyed the game.

         I also picked up a tennis racket for the first time although I had already seen the game played when, one May day in 1946, Margot had taken me to Roland Garros. I only have haziest memories of people in long whites, running around hitting balls on what is still Court No 2.

         Tennis at Seafield was a Sunday sport, the serious stuff like rugby and cricket being played on Wednesday and Saturday afternoons. The rackets we used were those old Slazengers with laminated white frames and they seemed faintly glamorous. Pat Coghlan, still in his blue shorts, used to play with us energetically. The idea that, one day, I might get on the same court with Frank Sedgman or Ken Rosewall, names I was beginning to recognise from the sports pages of the Daily Express, never entered my mind. Sedgman, all dressed up in a white tuxedo for the 1952 Wimbledon Ball was, in fact, the first tennis player ever to catch my eye when his photo appeared on the front page of the Sunday Express.

         Nick lived with his mother at Broadstairs in Kent, and during a couple of holidays I went down to stay with him. Apart from stinging my hands from his penalties when we messed around on the local recreation ground, we went to watch Kent play county cricket at Canterbury and he introduced me to my first real sports star, Colin Cowdrey, captain of Kent and later England.

         Given how late I had been introduced to sport, I rather envied Colin because his father, who I met briefly some years later at a Test match at the Oval, had had the nerve to give his son the initials M.C.C. Michael Colin Cowdrey. He had done so quite deliberately so what were the odds on Colin, who was always slightly overweight and not an obvious athlete (until you saw him take dazzling catches at slip), turning into an England cricketer or, more amazingly still, being voted President of the Marylebone Cricket Club, which owns Lords and writes the rules of the game? Long odds, I would have thought.

         In the class room, it was quickly becoming apparent that English, History and Geography were my best subjects and that Maths wasn’t. It was my general inability to decide whether x equalled y or vice versa that ruled me out of Charterhouse, the public school that my Carthusian godfather, Sir Anthony Hawke, was keen for me to attend. Tony Hawke was Common Serjeant at the time (a typically understated British name for something terribly import in the judiciary) but even his influence could not persuade Charterhouse to accept a dunce at Maths.

         So my father came up with Canford, a new school by English standards as it was only founded in 1923. I was never quite sure why Canford was chosen for my further education but, in September 1952, I found myself being admitted to this fine establishment which encompasses Lord Wimborne’s sprawling estate on the edge of the Dorset town of the same name. It is a beautiful place with playing fields stretching as far as the eye can see from the top of the tower, which forms part of the magnificent 19th century grey stone mansion. Canford enjoys many unique features such as John O’Gaunt’s Kitchen, a Norman church and a splendid Real Tennis court but, to be honest, these assets were not sufficient to make my first year being anything but thoroughly miserable.

         I was homesick and even missed Seafield which had become an enjoyable experience during my last two years. But I was being put through the essence of the British private education system. The building up and the knocking down. “Riding high in April, shot down in May … back on top in June” – Frank Sinatra offered a speeded-up synopsis of how it works. You can be strutting about as a terribly important prefect or cricket captain at your prep school in June and, come September, be regarded as little more than dirt when assigned to some disdainfully superior eighteen-year-old as his ‘fag’ at the bottom of a ladder you have to climb all over again.

         There were various names for being a ‘fag’ at public schools – Canford used a different term which I have forgotten – but it basically meant that you were at someone’s beck and call day and night. Shining his shoes, making his bed, fetching him a cup of tea – basically you were reduced to being a low-grade servant and if he didn’t think you were doing your job it was within the prefect’s remit to find some obscure rule you had unwittingly broken and give you six of the best with a nasty looking cane.

         Such practices are, I believe, no longer and Canford had certainly changed when I took my son Ashley and his mother back for a quick tour a few years ago. For a start there were girls! In my day the House Matrons were the only young women we saw during term time and, unhappily, my house – Wimborne – did not have a Matron as accommodating as the young lady at School House who, it transpired, enjoyed introducing the delights of erotic entertainment to a select group of prefects in her room late at night! Needless to say, Matron was sent packing and the Head Boy, who had been one of her chosen amours, was promptly demoted.

         I would not have enjoyed facing the headmaster after that little escapade. John Hardie was a stunningly good-looking man with deep dark eyes and the upright bearing of a Guards officer who put most of the boys’ mothers under his spell with a single glance as he swept into his study with his black gown billowing. He was a Welsh hockey international and fine academic who, rather surprisingly, I thought, ended up at Loughborough College, an institution that specialises in sport.

         Apart from the girl students who are housed in their own specially built complex behind the gymnasium, the other major change I noticed on my return was the absence of dormitories. Every single boy now has his own room from day one. Talk about luxury. To say the dormitories I endured were spartan would be an understatement. Any attempt at heating was made redundant by the fact that our Head of House, a lean faced, wiry cross country runner called Bulleid, insisted on keeping the fire escape door open at night through the dead of winter. And my bed was next to that door. Frequently, my face flannel was literally frozen stiff in the morning. Not that I got to use it immediately, because an early morning run was the first item on the day’s agenda. Up to the Bournemouth Road and back. A nice little couple of miles. In retrospect, I am not sure how I survived.

         But, eventually, I made friends – Hood, Reed and Rowe were three names that linger although I never saw them again after leaving – and made a bit of a mark with my riding. By my third year I was made captain of the Canford School Riding team and was therefore a focus of some envy as we were the only sports team to compete against girls! We had day trips for cross country matches at nearby girls’ schools, but even so fraternisation was kept to a minimum.

         The dressage bored me but I loved the show jumping. I rode a grey who seemed to accept that I was trying to do my best and there is nothing more exhilarating than clearing a jump when you and your horse are in perfect harmony. It was not, of course, always the case and I was thankful on occasion that English rain usually made for a soft landing.

         By then the early miseries had subsided somewhat and I had begun to enjoy life in a setting of such beauty. Weekends spent in Bournemouth when my mother came down to rescue me for a couple of days remained highlights of my existence, but no one could suggest that Canford lacked a choice of pastimes for anyone energetic enough to grab the opportunities on offer.

         Cricket was played in the shadow of the main house in the summer with tennis an alternative (which, ironically, I did not take up) while the winter term was reserved for rugby – cheering on big First Fifteen battles against local rivals like Sherborne or Bryanston – and then, during the Easter term, hockey took over. Somebody suggested I should play for my house in goal and I spent a few happy afternoons kicking everything in sight, but it was never really my sport.

         Nor was boxing but I represented my house in that, too, for some absurd reason, and discovered being hit on the nose by someone bigger and faster than you to be a most unpleasant experience.

         I enjoyed nothing more than the evenings when films were shown on the big screen in the gymnasium. I particularly remember seeing the crime thriller The Blue Lamp in which Dirk Bogarde played an East End boy with a Cockney accent. So unaware was I of acting skills that I was amazed to hear him using his proper cut glass vowels while rising to fame in all those ‘Doctor’ comedies a few years later.

         It was fortuitous that Julius Caesar was our prescribed Shakespeare play in my final year, because that magnificent film production starring Marlon Brando as Anthony, John Gielgud as Cassius and James Mason as Brutus had just came out, so an entertaining evening became educational, too, and brought Shakespeare vividly to life for a young student.

         Generally nothing changed as far as my academic studies were concerned. Mr Willis, my bespectacled Maths master, used to peer at me in despair at the back of his class and was probably surprised to hear better things being said about me in the Common Room from his colleagues, Mr Vaughan and Mr Rathbone. Mr Vaughan, my English master, was a slight figure with a nasal voice and ready sense of humour who quickly spotted a certain talent when it came to marking my essays. He became a great source of inspiration and encouragement as I began to lean more and more to a career with the pen.

         Mr Rathbone, who we inevitably called Basil because of a well-known actor of that period, was a large, untidy man, slow of movement but sharp of mind who spoke in deliberate, strangulated tones. He umpired our house cricket matches and was kind enough to compliment me on my cover drive. Funny how tiny, irrelevant incidents stick in the memory. Of more import was the fact that ‘Basil’ evidently had his ear close to the ground when it came to exam time and guided us to subjects that might, just possibly, be on the question sheet.

         There was much mention of Bismarck – hint, hint – so I spent two nights with very little sleep swatting up on the life of the great German. Utilising a nascent journalistic ability, I wrote reams on the subject and it seemed to do the trick. The note from ‘Basil’ a while later read – and I can confidently quote from memory – “I must congratulate you not merely on passing in History but the manner of your passing. Your score of 94% is the highest yet recorded in the school’s history.”

         So, evidently, I could do something. I could write.

         In between times, we would laze around, using up our pocket money by stuffing ourselves with Cadbury’s chocolate and other delicacies in the school tuck shop. We used to sit, obliviously, under a strange looking object that we idly presumed was some pre-historic slab of art. We were right. But no one said anything.

         “Excuse me, sir, have you had that thing looked at?” It never happened.

         Until a real art expert, John Russell from Columbia University, passed by on a visit to the school one day in 1992 and did a double take. After having it properly looked at, Canford School found itself a great deal richer. Richer, in fact, to the tune of £7.7 million. The ‘find’ which had been so visible to all and sundry for so long turned out to have adorned a wall alongside the throne of King Assurnasirpal 11 of Assyria, who ruled from 883 to 859 BC. If that’s not pre-historic, it’s close.

         It had been brought to England from Nimrud in northern Mesopotamia (now Iraq) by Sir Henry Layard. But the original was thought to have been lost in a river accident and everyone had assumed in the years preceding the foundation of the school that the object hanging on the wall of what was known as the Grubber was a plastic replica. Not so.

         The seven-million-plus pounds was the highest sum ever paid for a piece of antiquity at the time and it enabled the school to build a splendid new gymnasium and sports facility. Generations of Canfordians have been kicking themselves ever since. Even the tiniest slice of £7.7 million would have been nice. “Excuse me, sir …”

         By 1956 my father and I had a decision to make. Canford was expensive and Daddy was not getting any richer on a Price Waterhouse pension that showed a shocking disregard for inflation. Should I stay on through my eighteenth year and try for some A levels so that I could go on to university? Or should I march out into the great big world and see what I could achieve?

         I think Daddy was relieved when I said that I was prepared to give it a go in journalism and he busied himself writing letters to such local publications as the South Croydon Advertiser and the Richmond & Twickenham Times. At least most of them replied. But none were interested in offering a seventeen-year-old a job. So I took a different tack and went to a man who I thought might just possibly have an idea or two.

      

   


   
      
         

            Chapter 3

            A CAREER BEGINS

         

         By the time, I left school, my mother and I were living in a block of flats called Southfields at the top of Putney Hill next to The Telegraph pub which turned out to be the first drinking establishment I ever entered.

         My love of cricket led me to getting the occasional game for a Roehampton team which played on a nearby field and, as my game needed considerable improvement, we found enough money for me to attend an indoor school on Chiswick High Road which was run by someone called Joe Gaby.

         Joe had another job. He and his brother were the doormen at the Lords Pavilion. Rather more amenable and welcoming than some of their successors, Joe seemed like a good person to ask about contacts in sporting journalism so, the next time I went to watch Middlesex play, I went up to him to say hello. He knew me, of course, as one of the pupils at his school.

         “I want to write about sport, Joe,” I said. “Do you happen to know anyone who might have an opening?”

         “Funny you should mention it,” he replied with a sentence that changed my life. “There’s this new freelance agency in Fleet Street that three fellows from the Press Association have set up. Reg Hayter is the chap’s name and his partner Ron Roberts – you know, R.A. Roberts who writes in the Daily Telegraph? – will be here tomorrow. Come along and I’ll introduce you.”

         I was back before play started the next day and, sure enough, Joe presented me to Ron Roberts, who was not a man with time for small talk. He usually had two books and half a dozen articles to write at any given moment and, after taking one good look at me, he came straight to the point.

         “We are actually looking for someone who can write and make the tea,” he smiled. “Reg and I will be in the office next week. Come round and see us. Here’s the address.”

         So it was that I found myself searching for an office in Bridewell Place, round the corner from the Albion pub just off Fleet Street. Full of apprehension, I checked the number on the door and, on walking up a flight of stairs, I found myself confronted by a burly individual with an enquiring eye.

         “C-c-come in!” Reg Hayter exclaimed. “I hear you want to w-w-write for us!”

         Oh, God, he stammers like I used to, was the first thought that flashed through my mind but, after saying hello to Ron who was typing furiously on a little portable typewriter and Albert Sewell, a small, serious looking fellow who was working in the adjacent office, I was told to sit down and tell Reg a bit about myself.

         After a while an older man arrived. White haired and avuncular with a warm smile, he turned out to be the third partner, Freddie Garside – Sewell being the first man they had hired when Hayters Sports Services was born just a few months before.

         If I remember correctly, I had given Roberts a report I had written as a trial run for myself on a football match I had gone to at Craven Cottage the previous year. Fulham were not my team but they were nearest big club to where I lived and I had wanted to prove to my father that his warning of ‘You can’t earn a living watching football matches’ was not necessarily true.

         So Reg Hayter had some proof that I could string a sentence together but that did not dilute the surprise when he said, “Saracens are playing Wasps at Southgate tomorrow. We’ll get you a press pass. The T-T-Times want 300 words. Bring your story back here on Sunday, we’ll t-t-take a look at it and if it’s OK, we’ll send it across the road.”

         ‘Across the road’ meant Printing House Square, home to the world’s most famous publication since the previous century. I was going to write for The Times? Really?

         I left Bridewell Place in a bit of a daze. If I didn’t have a job, I certainly had an assignment and no one needed to tell me how important it was not to screw it up. Forty-eight hours later, I handed over my hand-written 300 words which was typed up in the office and duly dispatched, untouched. To my amazement, the rugby report appeared, as written, in The Times that Monday.

         “We can offer you five p-p-pounds a week,” Reg said. “But I’ll expect you to work for it. We’re here seven days a week. You will be, too.”

         I’d have slept there if they’d asked me to. If five pounds a week was barely a living wage in September 1956, it didn’t seem to matter much to me. I was just delighted to be able to contribute to the housekeeping money and overwhelmed with joy at the thought of having a job that would immerse me totally in the world of sport.

         And so it began. The District Line from Putney Bridge to Blackfriars every morning; all day in the office phoning over scores to newspapers or writing short feature articles for magazines; and then, most evenings, off to Brentford, Millwall or West Ham for a football match of some sort. I would learn how to knock together three or maybe even four different reports of 150 to 400 words for papers ranging from the august Daily Telegraph to the Scunthorpe Echo or some such. Home at midnight and off again the next day, yes, including Sundays. I was in heaven.

         I was also getting the best journalistic education you could imagine. I have never been certain what those journalism schools teach – I am sure they are worthy and useful institutions – but, for me, learning to be a reporter is not something you can do in a class room. Out in the field, on a deadline, an editor yelling at you – that is how you discover if you can do the job. And it is how you improve. I know many Hayters men will agree when I say that Reg’s little organisation was providing as good a journalistic education as you could find anywhere in the world.

         It was a bit of a miracle that it existed at all. With Freddie Garside and Ron Roberts in tow, Hayter had sold the idea of a freelance agency providing a reporting service on sport to the twenty or so daily and Sunday Fleet Street (national) newspapers which existed at the time. Reg had cultivated relationships with the top sports editors during his years at the Press Association and now he made it pay off – simply by persuasion which, for a man with a bad stammer, was quite an achievement.

         Somehow Reg managed to convince them that his reporters could provide, on deadline, a report on a cricket, football or rugby match which would be especially tailored to their own style, thus saving them the cost of sending their own man. So that’s what we did. The report for the Daily Mirror needed a wham, bam personality driven intro while the Times wanted a more carefully written appraisal of the match as a whole. And if Crystal Palace were playing Northampton Town, the Northampton Chronicle required a report heavily angled to what their team and their players had done.

         At a Saturday afternoon match, with its traditional 3.00 pm kick off, you had a bit of time. Not so for a 7.30 pm start under the lights. At most London football grounds you at least had a telephone within reach, sometimes even on your desk in the press box, but the deadlines were ridiculous. The match would finish at around 9.15 and by ten everyone was screaming for copy. By then you were supposed to have not only written three separate reports but also dictated them to copy-takers of varying competence. Oh, the joy of having a copytaker who knew how to type Johnny Haynes or Tommy Lawton without needing to spell it out!

         There was a night at Millwall’s old ground, so aptly called Cold Blow Lane, when the lights went out just as I was half way through dictating copy. So, for the first time in my career but not the last, I had to ad-lib what I had scrawled in my note book. It probably read OK, just, but could never have matched the prose of the incomparable Geoffrey Green of the Times who sat next to me one night in a darkened White Hart Lane and ad-libbed 500 of the most beautifully constructed words you have ever heard on the Tottenham Hotspur match we had just seen.

         The match came alive again before my eyes and when he had finished Geoffrey, looking marginally satisfied, turned to me and said, “Well my old Commander, time for a quick one?”

         Everyone was a Commander to Green, a sartorial figure with half-moon glasses and flowing grey hair whose ability as a wordsmith was only matched by a willingness to drink any of his colleagues under the table and emerge next morning apparently none the worse for wear.

         The same could be said for someone else I met on one of those cold nights at football matches – an encounter that made Cold Blow Lane a much warmer place in my heart. One afternoon at a Millwall game, I found myself sitting next to my idol, the one and only Denis Compton. A lingering cartilage problem in his left knee had eventually forced this genius of a batsman to retire from cricket a couple of years earlier and he had taken a part time job writing on cricket and football for the Sunday Express. I don’t use the word genius lightly. With a willow in his hand, Compton batted like no one before or since. He late cut fast bowlers; swept off-spinners to the square leg boundary from balls pitching outside off-stump; and charged down the wicket on a whim to drive the ball over bowlers’ heads. He retired before one day cricket was born but what an impact he would have made.

         I could, of course, write a biography right here about Denis, the Brylcreem poster boy with the slicked back dark hair and charming smile who had whizzed down the left wing for Arsenal (and England in war time Internationals) in between scoring centuries for England and Middlesex. Like Len Hutton, Bill Edrich, Alec Bedser and other great sportsmen of his era, a five-year chunk of playing time was taken out of his career by World War Two but even then he scored seventeen Test hundreds and in that scorching summer on 1947 compiled over 3,000 first class runs, bringing people to Lords in their thousands as he and Bill Edrich, the ‘Middlesex Twins’, injected some cheer and light to those days of rationing and gloom in post-war London.

         Decades later, a photographer friend of mine, Nik Wheeler, took me to visit his sister and brother-in-law, John Bardner, at their lovely house in Highgate in north London. John was my age and we soon started talking about sport. I complimented him on his garden and he said, “Yes, but you know the best thing about this house? It is perfectly situated. It is one hour’s walk to Lord’s and one hour’s walk to Highbury!”

         He then confirmed what I had already suspected. “Yes, of course I support Middlesex and Arsenal and, of course, it’s all about Denis Compton. There are a whole generation of us.” There are indeed.

         So, slowly, I was gaining confidence in my ability to produce what Hayters required even though the hours were long and the days intense. However, one morning, something happened that might interest speech therapists. When I picked up the phone to call over some rugby results to the Daily Telegraph, I found myself stammering again. “Oh, shit!” was my immediate reaction. Where had that come from? The source of the problem presumably lay in the fact that I was expending a great deal of nervous energy in a new job and that, for long periods of the day, I listened to a man who stammered. Which of those two factors played the bigger part I have no idea but the combination was obviously lethal to smooth speech.

         Every speech impediment seems to be slightly different. Reg Hayter had most trouble with hard consonants. I had trouble with vowels like ‘e’ and ‘a’ so had trouble saying my own name. The next few days were hell as I tried to read out names like Epsom and Abertillery but, for reasons unknown, the problem disappeared after a week and I have never been afflicted since.

         The work rate, however, did not decrease and by the first week of December I plucked up enough courage to ask Reg if I could have a day off.

         “D-d-d-day off!” he spluttered. “What do you want a d-d-day off for?”

         “Maybe for a chance to do some Christmas shopping?” I replied plaintively.

         Underneath the bluster, Reg was not an unreasonable man so I got my day off. But that didn’t mean I wasn’t working on Christmas Day. Oh, no! In those days there was a full league programme of football matches at 11.00 am on Christmas morning and so Leyton Orient down the Mile End Road it was for this Hayters man. In those days, matches on Christmas morning were deemed perfectly logical. The men were supposed to be useless in the kitchen, so pack ’em off to watch their football while the wives prepare the Christmas dinner. As Marvin Hamlish wrote many years later, “It all seemed so simple then …”

         Sometime early in 1957, the partners decided Hayters Sports Services needed more space so we moved across Fleet Street to Shoe Lane and offices next to the Evening Standard. Apart from Albert Sewell, so immaculate with his facts and figures – especially those concerning his beloved Chelsea for whom he worked towards the end of his career – Hayters had hired a smart young man from the West Country called Roger Malone, who went on to write for the Daily Express through a long career, and after me came John Thicknesse, a large, jovial man who became a longstanding cricket correspondent for the Evening Standard. Soon after Christopher Ford arrived and he, too, blossomed under Reg’s tutelage. Christopher leant to the left politically and enjoyed a deep love of classical music so The Guardian was his natural habitat and he wrote elegantly for them for many years.

         The number of sports writers who followed, ‘graduating’ from the Hayters ‘academy’ to achieve great things in Fleet Street are too numerous to mention in their entirety … Peter Smith, Barry Newcombe, John Etheridge, Glenn Moore, Martin Samuel, not forgetting Reg’s own son, Peter Hayter … the list goes on. But the reason for our success was not hard to fathom. If you could produce three well written reports under difficult conditions and absurd deadlines on time, graduating to a newspaper that required only one was, as Reg would have said, “A d-d-doddle.”

         Hayter himself was always available for advice, as was Garside and Roberts whenever he was around, but one must not forget the diligent editing of Ron Surplice, who arrived soon after we moved to Shoe Lane. Ron was a straight-backed, sharp-featured man with a good sense of humour but a sergeant-major’s attitude to discipline and detail. He wanted the apostrophe in the right place and kept us on our toes.

      

   


   
      
         

            Chapter 4

            THE IRON CURTAIN

         

         In April 1957, two mon2s after I had turned eighteen, Reg called me into his office one morning and told me that Hayters had received three orders to cover the England Under 23 football tour to Bulgaria, Romania and Czechoslovakia and, to my utter astonishment, asked me if I wanted to go.

         “It won’t be easy and I am p-probably t-taking a chance sending someone of your age and experience,” he said. “But I think you’re up to it. Just remember you will be carrying the reputation of the company with you so don’t mess up!”

         To say that Hayter was taking a gamble was putting it mildly. I suppose, during the preceding six months, I had shown him that I could do the job but catching the Piccadilly Line to Arsenal was pretty straightforward compared to getting oneself from Sofia to Bucharest. Travelling around Europe was not, of course, new to me but this trip would be behind the Iron Curtain at the height of the Cold War. Daunting? A little … but I was thrilled and couldn’t wait for the adventure to start.

         The orders had come in from the Daily Telegraph, the Daily Mail and the News Chronicle. The Telegraph would require its own report but Reg, correctly visualising the problems that might arise from having to phone copy through from these countries, had done a deal with the Mail and News Chronicle. On alternate days, I would file to one paper and then the other. The day I filed for the Mail, they would run the copy over to the News Chronicle, a few yards down Bouverie Street, and their subs would re-write it. This way I only had to write two stories.

         That, however, was still double the work load of the three experienced football writers who would be my competition on the trip. Bob Pennington, chief football writer of the Daily Express, Frank McGhee of the Daily Mirror and Peter Lorenzo of the Daily Herald were, thankfully, a pleasant trio to travel with and never tried to cut me out of any snippets of information they picked up along the way.

         The England team was managed by Walter Winterbottom, the long serving manager of the full England side and he had the future Tottenham Hotspur manager, Bill Nicholson, as his trainer. Although they were all young and largely untested at the time, the team itself was full of players who would go on to make a name for themselves in England colours starting with the captain, Ronnie Clayton and his Blackburn Rovers colleague Bryan Douglas. Then there was the Manchester United pair of Duncan Edwards and David Pegg; Fulham’s brilliant inside forward Johnny Haynes; a centre forward from Middlesbrough called Brian Clough who would later lead Nottingham Forest to European Cup titles and make a great deal of noise doing it; Arsenal’s clever Jimmy Bloomfield; Blackpool’s elegant full back Jimmy Armfield who went on to enjoy a fine BBC radio career on retirement; Tottenham defender Maurice Norman and the big, blond West Brom centre forward (they weren’t called strikers on those days) Derek Kevan. One of the goalkeepers was Alan Hodgkinson of Sheffield United who, despite being first choice for the full England team at the time, could not dislodge the other keeper, Bolton’s Eddie Hopkinson, when he arrived for the last two matches of the tour.

         So off we flew one fine morning in May 1957 on BEA (which, with BOAC, later became British Airways) to destinations that seemed far away and quite mysterious. They became more so when the door of the plane opened on the tarmac of Sofia Airport and the greeting party of Bulgarian FA officials boarded. I smelled garlic from that moment on until we left four days later. The entire city reeked of it. Every hotel lobby, every restaurant, every taxi gave off this aroma of garlic and when I put my head on the pillow that evening, the pillow seemed impregnated with it, too. It took years before I could enjoy garlic in my food.

         There was one good hotel in town and we weren’t in it. A Communist delegation from Moscow had turned up and although the players were allowed to keep their rooms, we journalists were downgraded to a place which, from memory, was aptly called the Hotel Moskva. At least we were able to go and have a drink at the players’ hotel and I made the mistake of accepting a second Mastika from an all too hospitable Bulgarian. When I stood up the room went round, something that had never happened to me before or since. Mastika is the Bulgarian version of raki in Turkey or ouzo in Greece and is aniseed based. It clouds when you add water and your head is in the clouds afterwards.

         The real fun began when, having watched the England team train that afternoon, we returned to our basic quarters at the Hotel Moskva to write our stories and, just as importantly, book our phone calls to London. We asked the receptionist how long it would take. The answer was a shrug. “One, maybe two hours,” was about as much as we could get out of him. Two hours passed. A short while later, the phone rang in Lorenzo’s room. It felt as if he had won the jackpot. Not only had Peter’s call come through first but the Daily Herald was renowned for having the best copytaker in Fleet Street so he was all done and dusted and grinning broadly when he came in to my room to check on my progress. Minimal. The danger was that the Telegraph and the Mail would call at the same time and I would have to reject one of them. The Telegraph came through first and I dictated the longer of the two stories I needed to write.

         By then Pennington was on to the Express. He was a burly man with a lopsided grin and a stentorian voice which he now proceeded to use to full effect. “No, ARMFIELD!” he bellowed. “A for apple, R for roger, M for Mary …” The thin walls shook and Eastern European ladies of a certain age began emerging from their rooms in their nightgowns with their hair in curlers. There was a lot of ‘shushing’ and angry looks but nothing was going to stop Bob. “F for …” He probably wanted to say something else but kept it to ‘Freddy’.

         Somehow we all got through the ordeal, which was five times as exhausting and nerve-racking as writing the stuff and, of course, it was repeated each night in some form or other throughout the tour. Primitive was the best way to describe trans-European phone services in the 1950s. Email? Hah! It was literally unimaginable.

         What should have been imaginable, however, was a fax. Because the technology was available and had been ever since the invention of the telephone some 70 years before. And newspapers had been using it for decades. How do you think pictures were wired? By telegraphing a collection of dots on a piece of paper. Which is what the fax does. But for some weird reason, no one thought of sending the printed word by the same method until the 1970s, and even by 1980 a lot of top class hotels in Europe still didn’t have a fax machine.

         Along with Haynes, Edwards and a couple of other players who had been on full England duty, Ronnie Clayton was not with us for the first match so Birmingham’s Trevor Smith captained the team. But it was not an auspicious start. Bulgaria’s Under 23 side won 2-1 and Sunderland’s Stan Anderson got himself sent off for kicking Doicho Batchev as he went to pick up the ball for a throw in. Not clever.

         Clough scored England’s goal and Hopkinson’s fine shot-stopping prevented a heavier defeat. Winterbottom looked unhappy and Nicholson’s creased features, which never changed too much, were set in stone. On to Bucharest.

         Pennington, McGhee, Lorenzo and myself had booked ourselves into a four bed sleeper compartment on the Sofia-Bucharest Express. It turned out to be stuff of which novels are made. For a start Pennington and McGhee, honouring the great traditions of Fleet Street, brought along a bottle of Scotch. That, fatally, was augmented soon after we pulled out of the station by a bottle of brandy which was acquired from a dilapidated looking wagon-lit attendant in exchange for two packets of Senior Service cigarettes. Whisky and brandy – bad mix. Especially when Bob and Frank proceeded to guzzle both before we had even got out of Bulgaria. Peter and I had had a sip each but our two colleagues had taken care of the rest.

         So by the time we reached the border, they were both out cold. Pennington’s snores almost drowned out the noise of the engine while little McGhee was all snuggled up like a baby. All that was fine until the Romanian solider opened the compartment door with his machine gun slung over his shoulder and demanded our passports. Frantically Peter and I tried to bring the pair back to life. Bob was on the lower bunk and I literally dragged him off it, so that his heavy frame thumped onto the floor from two feet up. Not a flicker. Not a twitch of an eye lid. If his chest hadn’t been heaving I would have thought he was dead. McGhee might never have been born and Peter certainly couldn’t get him out of the womb of his slumber. So we scrabbled around in their coat pockets and handed over their passports to the unsmiling soldier, hoping to God all the visas were in order. After what seemed like an age, he grunted and handed them back.

         Under the circumstances, it was a good thing that the journey took several more hours and by the time we pulled in to Bucharest Station Pennington and McGhee were rousable, although barely able to stand without assistance. Somehow we hauled them down the platform and into a taxi.

         “Athenee Palace!” we told the driver and were duly taken to one of Eastern Europe’s great old hotels which, at the time, was reputed to have one of the longest bars in the world. It was certainly needed as the Athenee Palace had a well-earned reputation for being the meeting place for every spy of every stripe operating behind the Iron Curtain. If Graham Greene never visited the place, he should have. Books would have flowed.

         We were warned that rooms were probably bugged but no one said anything about the General Manager being an undercover Colonel with the Romanian Counter-espionage Directorate or the fact that every chamber maid, porter, and waitress reported to him – not to mention the slinky, sexy floozies who hung around the bar.

         However, as far as comfort was concerned, the Athenee Palace was a big step up from the Hotel Moskva and, once Bob and Frank had stuck their heads under the cold tap, we headed off for the amazing August 23 Stadium which could hold 100,000 spectators – just a third, we were told, of the number of fans clamouring for tickets. I reported this under the by-line of Hadley Stevens which was the name the Daily Mail was using for my reports. The pitch looked perfect as the England players had a light work out and I quoted Bill Nicholson as saying, “There can be no excuses now.”

         Looking back at my reports, yellowing now with age in my cuttings book, I see that it was almost the only time I used a quote during the entire tour. That would be unthinkable in this quote-crazy age of endless press conferences but it was just the style of the time. We had plenty of informal access to the players but virtually nothing they said found its way into print. The sports editors just weren’t interested. There has been no more profound change in sports reporting than that.

         The following day something quite incredible happened. I got conscripted. To play. Yes, with that lot. Winterbottom wanted a fully-fledged eleven-a-side practice match and he had eighteen players. Adding Billy Nick and himself made twenty. That was it as far as staff was concerned – another sign of the times. So Nicholson’s eyes strayed to the quartet of British reporters standing innocently on the touchline. Oh, dear God, I thought to myself, there can only be two options. Even without hangovers, Pennington and McGhee were overweight, unathletic and in their late thirties. That left Lorenzo and you know who. Peter was thrilled. He was a good footballer and had played for Leyton Orient reserves. Then there was me: eighteen, which was good, but fit? Not so good. Quite apart from not having played football, as opposed to rugby and field hockey, since prep school, the only thing I had run after since joining Hayters nine months before was a bus.

         I tried to point this out to Winterbottom but he just said, “Don’t worry, son, you’ll be fine.” But I wasn’t. I was terrible. I managed to survive the half hour of rigorous exercises the squad was put through before the game, but once the whistle went I had no idea what was happening. Once, when it occurred to me that a tackle might be in order, I found myself facing Johnny Haynes of all people and literally in a blink of an eye, he was gone, vanished, playing on some other planet. I had never seen anyone move so fast. By today’s standards I suppose it was slow but it left me gasping and, inevitably, late when I did try to tackle and put out a foot. I caught David Pegg and send him sprawling. “Don’t kick him, for God’s sake,” Billy Nick growled at me. “We want him for Saturday!”

         Meanwhile Lorenzo was having what, I am sure, remained one of the most joyous days of his life. Haynes and other midfielders kept feeding him delicious passes out on the right wing and he kept cutting in and banging the ball past poor Alan Hodgkinson. Seven times. His paper ran with the story the next day and led the back page with the headline ‘Herald man puts seven past England goalkeeper!’

         Peter was a lovely guy, of Italian parentage as his name suggests but English to his fingertips, and he went to enjoy a successful career in radio, eventually rising to Head of BBC Radio Sport. His son Matt followed him into the medium and was well known on TV as a sports presenter in the nineties.

         We were all thrilled for Peter and his goal scoring spree and, of course, he dined out on it for years afterwards. I said as little as possible about my performance and tried to forget it, which was difficult as I could hardly get out of bed the next morning. Every previously unused muscle in my body was screaming and I was still feeling the effects when match day arrived 48 hours later.

         With Clayton, Haynes, Edwards and Pegg coming into the side, England put in a much better performance than we had seen from them in Sofia despite the fact that they had to wait until two minutes from time for Haynes, lashing in an Edwards free kick, earned them a 1-0 victory. The team did well to keep their composure in front of 100,000 screaming Romanians, which was easily the biggest crowd any of them had encountered, but the locals were not unfair and generously applauded Haynes for his brilliance throughout the match. In my piece for the Telegraph, I likened the Fulham star to Wilf Mannion and Raich Carter, two of England’s most skilful postwar inside forwards and Johnny went on to justify the comparison during an illustrious career.

         As far as I can remember we flew to the picturesque city of Bratislava for the final match of the tour against Czechoslovakia’s youngsters and, as fate and timing would have it, I could have had a major impact on the selection of the team. We were staying in the same hotel as the players and, on the eve of the match, I returned from dinner and was fumbling around trying to find my hotel key when the door directly opposite mine opened. To my obvious surprise a somewhat disheveled but quite attractive young lady was ushered into the corridor by two large and even more unkempt members of the England team – both of whom were on the team sheet to play the next day.

         I sort of stopped and gaped and seeing me, the players slammed the door, leaving their lady friend to find her way downstairs, hopefully by way of the ladies’ room so that she could tidy herself up before being seen by her father, who just happened to be a very senior member of the Czech FA. To make matters worse he was, at that very moment, enjoying a late night cognac with his England counterpart, Sir Stanley Rous!

         As the door slammed upstairs, I caught sight of a figure further down the corridor. It was Bill Nicholson, who had evidently seen everything I had seen albeit from a greater distance. Every word counted with Billy Nick and he didn’t use many. “Write that and they’ll never play for England again,” he said. It was one of those quotes you don’t need to write down and which stay with you the rest of your life.

         There was no arguing with Nicholson’s warning. I held the careers of two England footballers in in the palm of my hand. It wasn’t just that the pair had been enjoying the company of a girl in their room at midnight on the eve of the match. The story was, naturally, made all the juicier by the fact that one could have called her a member of the opposition. Can you imagine what the News of the World would have done with it? If Arsenal’s Jack Wilshere smoking a cigarette at a party in Las Vegas warranted two pages of guff in the Daily Mail today … well, the times were different. The red top tabloids were still in incubation in the gutters of British journalism and although the newspapers of the day loved a scurrilous story, reporters were not under the same pressure to produce one.

         So I retired to my room to think about it. I was nine months into a journalistic career and I suppose I could have made a major name for myself. But I just couldn’t bring myself to ruin someone else’s career in the process. I have no idea what my three colleagues would have done or advised if I had gone to them with the story. But I didn’t so the decision was left to me and my conscience. I never told a soul.

         Of course it was pure supposition as to what actually went on in the players’ room and it may well have been little more than a kiss and a cuddle. But they had put themselves in a ridiculous position and I am sure Nicholson – probably without telling Winterbottom – let them know just how ridiculous the next day.

         They both played; England won 2-0 courtesy of two power-driven goals from Duncan Edwards and a fascinating tour came to an end. But not before one more incident occurred that provided another kind of test for a young and pretty green reporter travelling abroad. On the last night, I was having a drink the bar when a young man came up to me, carrying quite a large package the size of a coffee table book.

         He excused himself for butting in but said he knew that I would be flying back to England the next day and maybe I could do him a great favour. “I have relatives in England,” he said. “In Essex; the address is written here. Would it be possible for you to post the book to them when you get to London? It is just a picture book of my country and I would so like them to have it.”

         He took the book out of the wrapping paper and it was, indeed, one of those official tourist publications, airbrushed to show only the beautiful aspects of life in Czechoslovakia. He was only a little older than myself and eagerly persuasive. I won’t say that I accepted in a state of blissful ignorance but, in the minute or two I had to think about it, I couldn’t see a proper reason for saying ‘no’. It was, after all, only a book and, on the face of it, hardly a subversive one.

         I wish I could weave some wonderful tale of espionage into this story and, who knows, there might have been one. It is not entirely beyond the realms of possibility that there was an elaborate code woven into the words of that book which would be deciphered by some Czech resistance movement in a semi-detached in Basildon – for that, I seem to remember, was the book’s destination. It would have been very Le Carré.

         I never found out. I dutifully mailed the book at the Putney Post Office and hoped that I was doing nothing more than fulfilling a favour for someone living in an unfree society. Even if I had known him for all of four minutes.

         Of more consequence to me at the time was the reception I got back at the office in Shoe Lane. Pats on the back and a, “J-jolly good show,” from Reg and even, I believe, a couple of days off. But I was soon to find myself at Lords watching Middlesex and so it continued through the summer. I took no more than a passing interest in the fact that Lew Hoad destroyed Ashley Cooper in straight sets in the Wimbledon final or that Althea Gibson made history by winning the women’s title over Darlene Hard, thus becoming the first black person to lay their hands on a Wimbledon trophy. Tennis was not my beat and if anyone had told me Lew would become a close personal friend and that, three years later, I would be escorting Althea to the Wimbledon Ball, I would have queried their senses.

         And so the summer waned as did the career of Denis Compton. I had watched him occasionally during the season but, regretfully, missed the dashing 143 with which he signed off against Worcestershire in his final appearance at Lords. He had played his last Test for England the previous summer despite having the knee cap on his left leg removed. It was an old problem. He was bothered by the injury when he played on Arsenal’s left wing in the 1950 FA Cup Final against Liverpool. His first half display was poor but, after the former Arsenal star Alex James had poured a hefty dram of Scotch down his throat in the dressing room, Denis returned to the Wembley pitch to help Arsenal win the Cup with an energised display that showed just what kind of footballer he could have been.

         In the mid-fifties, cricket was inestimably the poorer for his retirement. His batting, which brought him 123 first class hundreds of which seventeen were made for England, was of a type that almost defies description. He teased bowlers, thrilled spectators and amused himself. Compton was, as the Daily Telegraph obituary said when he died in 1997 at the age of 78, ‘the cavalier of cricket’. We have never seen his like again.

         And so by September it was back to the enjoyable grindstone for Hayters, watching Queen’s Park Rangers beat Coventry City 3-0 for the Sunday Pictorial on a Saturday afternoon or off to Vicarage Road for a midweek game. My cuttings book reminds me that I did a piece for the Daily Herald and was presumptuous enough to suggest that Watford’s George Catleugh, who smacked home the 35-yard winner against Torquay United, was the only player on the pitch to deserve his £20 a week wages. That was the salary cap in those days – twenty quid a week and not a penny more. It took that fine shop steward and Fulham right half Jimmy Hill to stick his long jaw into football’s finances before the Professional Footballers Association (of which Hill had become chairman in 1956) was able to force the reactionary Football League to scrap the wage restriction. But it took Hill until January 1961 to get it done and, not soon after, Johnny Haynes became the first £100 a week footballer. But even Jimmy, who went on to become a popular, controversial and top quality broadcaster, could never have envisaged the 52-year leap from £20 to the £200,000 a week that a few stars like Wayne Rooney and Diego Costa earn today. Are they worth it? One could probably say that they are as overpaid as their predecessors were underpaid.

         Meanwhile I was dashing about having the time of my life on a fiver and was grateful for it. (Actually I think I got a one pound a week raise after that England Under 23 tour.) No matter, it was off to Colchester or Brentford or Wycombe Wanderers for football or, for rugby union, the Richmond Athletic Ground – home of Richmond and London Scottish – Teddington where St Mary’s Hospital played, or Old Deer Park where London Welsh and Rosslyn Park shared the ground at that time.

         Occasionally I would be given a plum assignment for The Guardian – or Manchester Guardian as it was in those days – and, early that season, I was at White Hart Lane to see Tottenham Hotspur, inspired by that magical Irishman Danny Blanchflower and little Tommy Harmer, beat Burnley 3-1. A year into the job, I was feeling like a reasonably experienced eighteen-year-old!

         But I knew there would be a significant interruption of my journalistic journey. I was going to be called up for National Service. As it turned out I was the last lot in – they took one look at me and pulled the plug! Silly joke and, anyway, it was going to be all too real come June of 1958 when I would be told to report to barracks.

         In the meantime, all went smoothly in Britain’s sporting world except for one total tragedy. On the 6th of February, I remember being in the Hayters office when news that the chartered aircraft carrying Manchester United home from a Europe Cup match had crashed on the snow-splattered runway at Munich. The scene is etched in my mind. Christopher Ford was at his desk in front of me; Albert Sewell over to my left; Reg and Freddie Garside were in their offices and Ron Surplice was marching around giving orders. All work stopped. There had been casualties – no, worse than that, fatalities.

         As we sat glued to the radio; ripping the next dispatch off the Reuters and PA wires, the names started to come in – Tommy Taylor, Roger Byrne, David Pegg, my little ‘opponent’ in Bucharest. Oh my God! This was too awful to comprehend. If we were white with shock, heaven knows what it must have been like for people in Manchester. Apart from the individual human tragedy it was their team that had been ripped apart.

         Eventually everyone had to face the stark truth. Of the 43 people aboard that flight, 23 had died. Mark Jones, Eddie Colman, Liam Whelan and Geoff Bent were other players to be killed outright while Duncan Edwards, emerging as one of England’s greatest players – so tall, so talented, so seemingly indestructible with a golden future ahead of him – fought for his life for fifteen days in a Munich hospital before succumbing to his injuries. Big Dunc dead? How could that be?

         Bert Whalley, United’s long serving coach, also died, as did the co-pilot and a steward. But, apart from the team, it was our profession that was hardest hit. Eight journalists died – Frank Taylor being the only survivor from the press corps. Henry Rose, a super star of a reporter for the Daily Express in Manchester; the Guardian’s Don Davies; George Follows, whose match reports I always admired; Eric Thompson, Tom Jackson, Archie Ladbroke, Alf Clarke as well as Frank Swift, a Manchester City legend who had taken up writing for the News of the World – they all perished.

         Fate of course played its part. Don Davies, who had been capped by the England Amateur football team of 1914 and had played cricket for Lancashire, wrote under the pseudonym of ‘An Old International’ and had a large following. As a fighter pilot he had been shot down over Douai in World War One and spent years in a prisoner-of-war camp, arriving home weighing less than six stone. But he recovered his health and it was only a minor ailment that put his trip with Manchester United to Belgrade in jeopardy. The Guardian, feeling he would not be well enough to travel, assigned John Arlott, the famous BBC cricket commentator who also wrote for the paper, to take his place. At the last minute Davies said he was well enough to go and so re-claimed the assignment. At 65, he was the oldest person to die at Munich.

         The grief was immeasurable and we all clung to stories of the survivors; of goalkeeper Harry Gregg, who had only joined the club two weeks before, turning hero as he ploughed back into the burning wreckage to rescue a woman and her baby daughter; of manager Matt Busby fighting through his awful injuries and eventually recovering to re-build his team around the inspirational Bobby Charlton – a team that would become known as The Busby Babes. Dennis Violett was another who was able to continue an already noteworthy career, but Jackie Blanchflower and Johnny Berry were too badly hurt to ever play again.

         If Gregg became a hero it was a deserving accolade. Although wounded in the head, he refused orders to run away from the aircraft and went back in, first to grab a 22-month-old baby, and then returned to search for her mother who was the wife of a London-based Yugoslav diplomat and was hitching a ride back with the team. She was Vera Lukic and she was five months pregnant with her son. Miraculously her unborn child survived the severe injuries suffered by his mother whom Gregg literally had to kick out of the plane to get her free of the wreckage.

         Any plane crash is a horror story but, of course, this one resonated to a far greater extent with the public because of the youth and fame of so many of the victims. The psychological wounds felt by multitudes of people were eventually assuaged, in part, by the remarkable achievements of the team Matt Busby re-built and the wonderful spirit of those ‘Babes’ as they strove to do justice to the memory of their fallen colleagues.

         With Busby in hospital for two months and unable to take over the reins from his deputy Jimmy Murphy until the following season, United were unable to maintain their League One title challenge – despite beating Sheffield Wednesday 3-0 in their first match after the crash – and slipped to ninth in the table but they did manage to reach the Cup Final, losing 2-0 to Bolton Wanderers.

         It took ten years before Manchester United could complete what they had set out to do in 1958 and by then those two icons, George Best and Denis Law, were bamboozling opposing teams with their magic. When they helped the team win the European Cup against Benfica, only Bobby Charlton and Bill Foulkes remained from those who had survived Munich.

         Spring saw me return to the cricket grounds I loved but, after a few short weeks, the happy sound of leather on willow would be replaced by the bark of a foul-mouthed sergeant major in a desperate place called Warley Barracks at Brentwood in Essex. The contrast was stark.
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